
 

-1- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Robert O. Dyer (No. 003783) 
DYER & BUTLER, LLP 
2800 North Central Avenue, Suite 100 
Phoenix, Arizona  85004 
(602) 288-0588 
(602) 288-0587 (Facsimile) 
rdyer@dyerbutlerlaw.com  

Jay P. Saltzman, Esq. 
SCHOENGOLD SPORN LAITMAN & LOMETTI, P.C. 
19 Fulton Street, Suite 406 
New York, NY 10038 
Phone:  (212) 964-0046 
Fax:  (212) 267-8137 
jay@spornlaw.com  

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Teamsters Local 617 Pension & Welfare Funds .  
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

IN THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 
 

TEAMSTERS LOCAL 617 PENSION 
AND WELFARE FUNDS, on behalf of 
itself and all others similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
 vs. 
 
APOLLO GROUP, INC.; JOHN G. 
SPERLING; TODD S. NELSON; KENDA 
B. GONZALES; PETER V. SPERLING; 
DANIEL E. BACHUS; DINO J. 
DECONCINI; J. JORGE KLOR DE 
ALVA; THOMAS C. WIER; JOHN R. 
NORTON, III; HEDY F. GOVENAR; and 
JOHN BLAIR,   
 
  Defendants. 
 

 

Case No.  

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 
Plaintiff Teamsters Local 617 Pension and Welfare Funds (“Plaintiff), individually and 

on behalf of all other persons similarly situated, by its undersigned attorneys, for its 

complaint against defendants, alleges the following based upon personal knowledge as to 

itself and its own acts, and information and belief as to all other matters, based upon, inter 

alia, the investigation conducted by and through its attorneys, which included, among other 

things, a review of the defendants public documents, conference calls and announcements 

made by defendants, United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings, 

wire and press releases published by and regarding Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo” or the 

mailto:RDYER@DYERBUTLERLAW.COM
mailto:jay@spornlaw.com
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“Company”), securities analysts reports and advisories about the Company, and information 

readily obtainable on the Internet.  Plaintiff believes that substantial evidentiary support will 

exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a federal class action on behalf of persons who purchased or otherwise 

acquired Apollo securities between November 28, 2001 and October 18, 2006, inclusive (the 

“Class Period”), seeking to pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 

“Exchange Act”). 

2. As discussed in more detail below, Defendants issued, or caused to be issued, 

false and misleading statements during the Class Period to artificially inflate the value of 

Apollo stock.  

3. From 2000 through 2004, the defendants caused Apollo to issue massive 

amounts of stock options to all levels of management as incentives to improve the Company’s 

performance.  In addition, throughout the Class Period, defendants assured the investing 

public that their stock plan was in accordance with all relevant laws and rules.  While the 

issuance of stock options to management is not unusual as a mechanism to encourage 

corporate performance, unfortunately for Apollo investors, the Company “backdated” options 

granted to all levels of management.  Backdating allowed the option recipients to reap a 

windfall when the Company looked back in time and chose option issue dates when the stock 

was trading at lower prices, thereby allowing recipients to make even more money when they 

exercised the options on the spread between the artificially depressed option price and the 

later exercise price.  

4. On June 9, 2006, in the midst of a nation-wide options scandal in connection 

with the backdating of options, Apollo announced that it had performed a review of its stock 

option practices during fiscal 2000-2004 and initially concluded that it had “complied with all 

applicable laws,” and it would hire an outside firm to review those conclusions.  The 

Company flatly denied that it had backdated options. 
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5. Far from having complied with all applicable laws, and unbeknownst to Apollo 

investors, however, the Company was much more concerned than they let on to the investing 

public since they knew, but failed to disclose, that the option grant process was deficient and 

would likely cause the Company to restate its financial statements.  October 18, 2006, Apollo 

disclosed for the first time that on June 23, 2006 – four months before the October 18 

disclosure – the Company’s Board of Directors appointed a special committee of two 

independent Board members to oversee Apollo’s stock option grant practices.  Further, it was 

disclosed for the first time that the special committee had retained independent outside 

counsel who themselves engaged independent accounting advisors to assist in the 

investigation. 

6. In addition, the Company for the first time disclosed that “[v]arious deficiencies 

in the process of granting and documenting stock options have been identified to date.” 

7. Finally, and most unfortunately for Apollo shareholders, the Company 

disclosed for the first time that “[t]he accounting impact of these matters has not been 

quantified.  There can be no assurance that the results of the investigation will not require a 

possible restatement of the Company’s financial statements when the potential errors are 

quantified and assessed. 

8. The reaction of the markets to this news was sharp and swift.  On October 18, 

2006, Apollo’s stock price plummeted to $37.55 per share from its prior day close of $48.68 

per share, a 22.86% drop in one day, on massive volume of 28,738,800 shares, more than 

fifteen times more than the prior day’s volume of 1,816,700. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to §§10(b) and 20(a) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78j(b) and 78t(a)] and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the 

SEC [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5].  

10. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to §27 

of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.  § 78aa] and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 
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11. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to §27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 

§ 78aa] and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b).  Many of the acts and transactions alleged herein, including 

the preparation and dissemination of materially false and misleading information, occurred in 

substantial part in this Judicial District.  Additionally, the Company maintains its executive 

offices in this Judicial District. 

12. In connection with the acts alleged in this complaint, defendants, directly or 

indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but not 

limited to, the mails, interstate telephone communications and the facilities of the national 

securities markets. 

PARTIES 

13. Plaintiff Teamsters Local 617 Pension and Welfare Funds, as set forth in the 

accompanying certification incorporated by reference herein, purchased the publicly traded 

securities of Apollo securities at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period and has 

been damaged thereby. 

14. Defendant Apollo is incorporated in Arizona and maintains its executive offices 

at 4615 East Elwood Street, Phoenix, AZ 85040.  For almost 30 years, the Company has been 

providing higher education programs to working adults through its subsidiaries, The 

University of Phoenix, Inc., Institute for Professional Development, The College for 

Financial Planning Institutes Corporation, and Western International University, Inc.  The 

consolidated enrollment in its educational programs makes it the largest private institution of 

higher education in the United States.  It offers educational programs and services at 97 

campuses and 159 learning centers in 39 states, Puerto Rico, Alberta, British Columbia, 

Netherlands, and Mexico.  As of May 31, 2006, there were 172,926,000 shares of Apollo 

common stock outstanding. 

15. Defendant John G. Sperling (“John Sperling”), Apollo’s founder, was Chairman 

of Apollo’s Board of Directors during the Class Period until his resignation on or about June 

30, 2004.  John Sperling thereafter remained on Apollo’s Board as a Director.  John Sperling 

signed Apollo’s Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2001 filed with the SEC on 
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November 28, 2001 (the “2001 10-K”); Apollo’s Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 

2002 filed with the SEC on November 27, 2002 (the “2002 10-K”); Apollo’s Form 10-K for 

the year ended August 31, 2003 filed with the SEC on November 26, 2003 (the “2003 10-

K”); Apollo’s Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2004 filed with the SEC on 

November 15, 2004 (the “2004 10-K”); and Apollo’s Form 10-K for the year ended August 

31, 2005 filed with the SEC on November 14, 2005 (the “2005 10-K”). 

16. Defendant Todd S. Nelson (“Nelson”) was Apollo’s President and Chief 

Executive Officer, and a Director of Apollo, until his resignation on or about January 11, 

2006.  Nelson served as Chairman of Apollo’s Board until his resignation.  Nelson signed the 

2001 10-K; the 2002 10-K; the 2003 10-K; the 2004 10-K; and the 2005 10-K. 

17. Defendant Kenda B. Gonzales was, at all relevant times, Apollo’s Chief 

Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer.  Gonzales signed the 2001 10-K; the 2002 10-K; 

the 2003 10-K; the 2004 10-K; and the 2005 10-K. 

18. Defendant Peter V. Sperling (“Peter Sperling”) was, at all relevant times, a 

Senior Vice President and Director of Apollo. Peter Sperling signed the 2001 10-K; the 2002 

10-K; the 2003 10-K; the 2004 10-K; and the 2005 10-K.  

19. Defendant Daniel E. Bachus (“Bachus”) was, at all relevant times, Apollo’s 

Chief Accounting Officer and Controller. Bachus signed the 2001 10-K; the 2002 10-K; the 

2003 10-K; the 2004 10-K; and the 2005 10-K.  

20. Defendant Dino J. DeConcini (“DeConcini”) was, at all relevant times, a 

Director of Apollo.  DeConcini signed the 2001 10-K; the 2002 10-K; the 2003 10-K; the 

2004 10-K; and the 2005 10-K. 

21. J. Jorge Klor de Alva (“de Alva”) was a Director of Apollo during 2001 and 

2002.  de Alva signed the 2001 10-K and the 2002 10-K.  

22. Thomas C. Weir (“Weir”) was a Director of Apollo during 2001 and 2002.  

Weir signed the 2001 10-K and the 2002 10-K.  
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23. Defendant John R. Norton III (“Norton”) was, at all relevant times, a Director 

of Apollo.  Norton signed the 2001 10-K; the 2002 10-K; the 2003 10-K; the 2004 10-K; and 

the 2005 10-K.  

24. Defendant Hedy F. Govenar (“Govenar”) was, at all relevant times, a Director 

of Apollo.  Govenar signed the 2001 10-K; the 2002 10-K; the 2003 10-K; the 2004 10-K; 

and the 2005 10-K.  

25. Defendant john Blair (“Blair”) was, at all relevant times, a Director of Apollo.  

Blair signed the 2001 10-K; the 2002 10-K; the 2003 10-K; the 2004 10-K; and the 2005 10-

K. 

26. Defendants John Sperling, Nelson, Gonzales, Peter Sperling, Bachus, 

DeConcini, de Alva, Weir, Norton, Govenar and Blair are collectively referred to hereinafter 

as the “Individual Defendants.”  

27. During the Class Period, each of the Individual Defendants, as senior executive 

officers and/or directors of Apollo, was privy to non-public information concerning its 

business, finances, products, markets and present and future business prospects via access to 

internal corporate documents, conversations and connections with other corporate officers 

and employees, attendance at management and Board of Directors meetings and committees 

thereof and via reports and other information provided to them in connection therewith. 

Because of their possession of such information, the Individual Defendants knew or 

recklessly disregarded the fact that adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to, 

and were being concealed from, the investing public. 

28. The Individual Defendants are liable as direct participants in the wrongs 

complained of herein. In addition, the Individual Defendants, by reason of their status as 

senior executive officers and/or directors, were “controlling persons” within the meaning of 

§20(a) of the Exchange Act and had the power and influence to cause the Company to engage 

in the unlawful conduct complained of herein.  Because of their positions of control, the 

Individual Defendants were able to and did, directly or indirectly, control the conduct of 

Apollo’s business.  
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29. The Individual Defendants, because of their positions with the Company, 

controlled and/or possessed the authority to control the contents of its reports, press releases 

and presentations to securities analysts and through them, to the investing public.  The 

Individual Defendants were provided with copies of the Company’s reports and press releases 

alleged herein to be misleading, prior to or shortly after their issuance and had the ability and 

opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to be corrected.  Thus, the Individual 

Defendants had the opportunity to commit the fraudulent acts alleged herein.  

30. As senior executive officers and/or directors and as controlling persons of a 

publicly traded company whose common stock was, and is, registered with the SEC pursuant 

to the Exchange Act, and was, and is, traded on the NASDAQ National Market 

(“NASDAQ”) and governed by the federal securities laws, the Individual Defendants had a 

duty to disseminate promptly accurate and truthful information with respect to Apollo’s 

financial condition and performance, growth, operations, financial statements, business, 

products, markets, management, earnings and present and future business prospects, to 

correct any previously issued statements that had become materially misleading or untrue, so 

that the market price of Apollo’s securities would be based upon truthful and accurate 

information.  The Individual Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions during the Class 

Period violated these specific requirements and obligations.  

31. The Individual Defendants are liable as participants in a fraudulent scheme and 

course of conduct that operated as a fraud or deceit on purchasers of Apollo publicly traded 

securities by disseminating materially false and misleading statements and/or concealing 

material adverse facts.  The scheme: (i) deceived the investing public regarding Apollo’s 

business, operations and management and the intrinsic value of Apollo securities; and (ii) 

caused Plaintiff and members of the Class to purchase Apollo publicly traded securities at 

artificially inflated prices.  

PLAINTIFF’S CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

32. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class consisting of all those who purchased the 
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publicly-traded securities of Apollo between November 28, 2001 and October 18, 2006, 

inclusive, and who were damaged thereby (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Class are 

defendants, the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their 

immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any entity 

in which defendants have or had a controlling interest.  

33. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Throughout the Class Period, Apollo stock was actively traded on the 

NASDAQ.  While the exact number of Class members is unknown to plaintiff at this time 

and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, plaintiff believes that there are 

hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class.  Record owners and other members 

of the Class may be identified from records maintained by Apollo or its transfer agent and 

may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that 

customarily used in securities class actions.  

34. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law complained of herein.  

35. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.  

36. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are:  

(a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants’ acts as alleged 

herein;  

(b) whether statements made by defendants to the investing public during the Class 

Period misrepresented material facts about the business and operations of Apollo;  

(c) whether the prices of Apollo’s publicly traded securities were artificially 

inflated during the Class Period; and  
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(d) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the proper 

measure of damages.  

37. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, 

as the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense 

and burden of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to 

individually redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management 

of this action as a class action.  

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

BACKGROUND 

Stock Options As Corporate Incentive 

38. In search of a way to reward top managers in recent decades, especially at 

emerging companies with little to no revenue, directors sweetened pay packages with options.  

Options are intended to provide top managers with an incentive to manage their companies 

well so that the stock rises and all shareholders benefit. 

39. Options give a holder the right to buy stock at a specific price at a point in the 

future. When a stock's price rises over the price of the options, the options become valuable.  

For example, if a manager were to buy 10,000 shares of stock at $10 per share today, the 

purchase would cost $100,000. If the manager had options to lock in that purchase at $10 per 

share one year from now, when the stock might be trading at $20 per share, the manager's 

$100,000 purchase would instantly be worth $200,000 -- a bonus of $100,000. 

40. Backdating options represents a chance to make options even more attractive.  

If a company could look backward to a time when its stock was hovering at a low point and 

designate that as the time it gave out options, the manager receiving the options would 

potentially have a bigger windfall when he exercised those options due to the larger spread 

between the grant and exercise prices. 
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MATERIALLY FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS 

41. In Apollo’s 2001 10-K, the Company set forth its stock options plan: 

Apollo Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock Plan.  
The Board of Directors has adopted the Apollo Group, Inc. 
Amended and Restated Director Stock Plan (“Director Plan”) to 
attract and retain independent directors. Under the amended Director 
Plan, up to 925,000 shares of Apollo Education Group Class A 
common stock and up to 100,000 shares of University of Phoenix 
Online common stock may be available for grant of awards. Options 
granted under the amended Director Plan are fully vested six months 
and one day after the date of grant and are exercisable in full 
thereafter until the date that is ten years after the date of grant. The 
exercise price per share under the amended Director Plan is equal to 
the fair market value of such shares upon the date of grant. Under 
the amended Director Plan, each non-employee director 
automatically receives a grant of options to purchase 20,250 shares 
of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock on September 1 
of each year through 2003. In addition, under the amended Director 
Plan each non-employee director who was on the Board of Directors 
on the date of the offering of University of Phoenix Online common 
stock received a grant of stock options to purchase 10,000 shares of 
University of Phoenix Online common stock on the date of such 
offering at the initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, which 
became exercisable six months and one day after the date University 
of Phoenix Online common stock options were granted. 

 
42. The 2001 10-K further set forth the options granted by Apollo to John Sperling 

and the four other highest compensated officers of Apollo: 
Option Grants to Purchase Apollo Education Group Class A Common Stock 

In the Last Fiscal Year 

                                             
    Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2001 Potential Realizable 
    

 

  Value at Assumed 

        Percent of Annual Rates of 
    Number of   Total Options Stock Price 
    Securities   Granted To Exercise Appreciation for 
    Underlying   Employees Price Per Option Term 
    Options   in Fiscal   Share   Expiration   

 

Name   Granted   Year ($/Share) Date 5% 10% 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

John G. Sperling     187,500     18.46%   $ 22.260      12/15/10    $ 2,624,896   $ 6,652,002
Todd S. Nelson     150,000     14.77%     22.260      12/15/10      2,099,917     5,321,602
Anthony Digiovanni     15,000     1.48%     22.260      12/15/10      209,992     532,160
Kenda B. Gonzales     15,000     1.48%     22.260      12/15/10      209,992     532,160
Laura Palmer Noone     15,000     1.48%     22.260      12/15/10      209,992     532,160
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Option Grants to Purchase University of Phoenix Online Common Stock 

In the Last Fiscal Year 

                                           
    Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2001   Potential Realizable 
    

 

  Value at Assumed 

        Percent of   Annual Rates of 
    Number of   Total Options   Stock Price 
    Securities   Granted To Exercise   Appreciation for 
    Underlying   Employees Price Per   Option Term 
    Options   in Fiscal   Share   Expiration   

 

Name   Granted   Year ($/Share) Date   5% 10% 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

John G. Sperling     900,000      20.43%   $ 9.333      9/27/10    $ 5,282,696    $ 13,387,389
Todd S. Nelson     750,000      17.03%     9.333      9/27/10      4,402,247      11,156,157
Anthony Digiovanni     375,000      8.51%     9.333      9/27/10      2,201,123      5,578,079
Jerry F. Noble     22,500      0.51%     9.333      9/27/10      132,067      334,685
Kenda B. Gonzales     225,000      5.08%     9.333      9/27/10      1,320,674      3,346,847
Laura Palmer Noone     150,000      3.41%     9.333      9/27/10      880,449      2,231,231

 
43. In a section entitled, “Board Compensation Committee Report on Executive 

Compensation, “ the 2001 10-K further assured investors that Apollo’s Compensation 

Committee “assesses the effectiveness” of the compensation program and ties options grants 

to company and individual performance: 

Board Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation 

Our Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) is composed 
entirely of independent outside members of our Board of Directors. 
The committee reviews and approves each of the elements of our 
executive compensation program related to John G. Sperling and 
Todd S. Nelson (the “Senior Executives”), and periodically assesses 
the effectiveness and competitiveness of the program in total. In 
addition, the committee administers the key provisions of the 
executive compensation program and reviews with our Board of 
Directors in detail all aspects of compensation for our Senior 
Executives. The committee has furnished the following report on 
executive compensation: 
 
Overview and Philosophy.  Our compensation program for Senior 
Executives is primarily comprised of base salary, annual bonus, and 
long-term incentives in the form of stock option grants. Senior 
Executives also participate in various other benefit plans, including 
medical and retirement plans, generally available to all of our 
employees. 
 

*** 
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Options.  We believe that it is important for Senior Executives to 
have an equity stake in us, and, toward this end, we make option 
grants to key Senior Executives from time to time under the Apollo 
Group, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. In making option awards, the 
Compensation Committee reviews our financial performance during 
the past fiscal year, the awards granted to other executives, and the 
individual officer’s specific role. 
 

(Emphasis supplied). 

44. The statements set forth above in paragraphs 41-43 were materially false and 

misleading in that they omitted to disclose that the process by which the options were granted 

was not tied to performance and was improperly documented and that the options granted 

were wrongfully backdated in order to artificially inflate the value of the options to the 

benefit the option recipients.  

45. In Apollo’s 2002 10-K, the Company set forth its stock options plan: 

Apollo Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock Plan. 
The Board of Directors has adopted the Apollo Group, Inc. 
Amended and Restated Director Stock Plan (“Director Plan”) to 
attract and retain independent directors. Under the amended Director 
Plan, up to 925,000 shares of Apollo Education Group Class A 
common stock and up to 100,000 shares of University of Phoenix 
Online common stock may be available for grant of awards. Options 
granted under the amended Director Plan are fully vested six months 
and one day after the date of grant and are exercisable in full 
thereafter until the date that is ten years after the date of grant. The 
exercise price per share under the amended Director Plan is equal to 
the fair market value of such shares upon the date of grant. Under 
the amended Director Plan, each non-employee director 
automatically receives a grant of options to purchase 20,250 shares 
of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock on September 1 
of each year through 2003. 

 
46. The 2002 10-K further set forth the options granted by Apollo to John Sperling 

and the four other highest compensated officers of Apollo: 
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Option Grants to Purchase Apollo Education Group Class A Common Stock In the Last Fiscal Year 

                                              
    Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2002   Potential Realizable 
    

 

  Value at Assumed 

            Percent of                   Annual Rates of 
    Number of   Total Options                   Stock Price 
    Securities   Granted To   Exercise           Appreciation for 
    Underlying   Employees   Price Per           Option Term 
    Options   in Fiscal   Share   Expiration   

 

Name   Granted   Year   ($/Share)   Date   5%   10% 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

John G. Sperling     225,000     11.23%  $ 23.333      9/21/11   $ 3,301,692    $ 8,367,136
Todd S. Nelson     225,000     11.23%   23.333      9/21/11     3,301,692      8,367,136 
Anthony     11,250     0.56%     23.333      9/21/11     165,085      418,357
Kenda B. Gonzales     37,500     1.87%     23.333      9/21/11     550,282      1,394,523 
Laura Palmer     37,500     1.87%     23.333      9/21/11     550,282      1,394,523

*All employees of the Company, including the five most highly compensated executive officers, received an option grant in 2002 for 150 
shares of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock. The exercise price per share for this grant is $29.327 and the expiration date is January 12, 
2012. The potential realizable value of these shares assumed annual rates of stock price appreciation of 5% for the option term is $2,767 and 10% for the 
option term is $7,011. 
 

Option Grants to Purchase University of Phoenix Online Common Stock In the Last Fiscal Year 

                                              
    Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2002  Potential Realizable 
    

 

 Value at Assumed 

            Percent of                  Annual Rates of 
    Number of   Total Options                  Stock Price 
    Securities   Granted To   Exercise          Appreciation for 
    Underlying   Employees   Price Per          Option Term 
    Options   in Fiscal   Share   Expiration  

 

Name   Granted   Year   ($/Share)   Date  5%   10% 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

John G. Sperling     200,000     22.69%  $18.998     9/21/11   $ 2,389,485    $ 6,055,424
Todd S. Nelson     200,000     22.69%    18.998     9/21/11      2,389,485      6,055,424
Anthony Digiovanni     73,333     8.32%    18.998     9/21/11      876,141      2,220,312
Kenda B. Gonzales     33,333     3.78%    18.998     9/21/11      398,244      1,009,227
Laura Palmer Noone     6,666     0.76%    18.998     9/21/11      79,642      201,827

 

47. In a section entitled, “Board Compensation Committee Report on Executive 

Compensation, “ the 2002 10-K substantially repeated assurances to investors set forth above 

in paragraph 43 that Apollo’s Compensation Committee “assesses the effectiveness” of the 

compensation program and ties options grants to company and individual performance. 

48. The statements set forth above in paragraphs 45-47 were materially false and 

misleading in that they omitted to disclose that the process by which the options were granted 

was not tied to performance, was improperly documented and that the options granted were 

wrongfully backdated in order to artificially inflate the value of the options to the benefit the 

option recipients.  
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49. In Apollo’s 2003 10-K, the Company set forth its stock options plan: 

Apollo Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock Plan. 
The Board of Directors has adopted the Apollo Group, Inc. 
Amended and Restated Director Stock Plan (“Director Plan”) to 
attract and retain independent directors. Under the amended Director 
Plan, up to 925,000 shares of Apollo Education Group Class A 
common stock and up to 100,000 shares of University of Phoenix 
Online common stock may be available for grant of awards. Options 
granted under the amended Director Plan are fully vested six months 
and one day after the date of grant and are exercisable in full 
thereafter until the date that is ten years after the date of grant. The 
exercise price per share under the amended Director Plan is equal to 
the fair market value of such shares upon the date of grant. Under 
the amended Director Plan, each non-employee director 
automatically receives a grant of options to purchase 20,250 shares 
of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock on September 1 
of each year through 2003. 

 
50. The 2003 10-K further set forth the options granted by Apollo to John Sperling 

and the four other highest compensated officers of Apollo: 
Option Grants to Purchase Apollo Education Group Class A Common Stock 

In the Last Fiscal Year 

                                              
   Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2003  Potential Realizable 
   

 

  Value at Assumed 

       Percent of  Annual Rates of 
   Number of   Total Options  Stock Price 
   Securities   Granted To Exercise  Appreciation for 
   Underlying   Employees Price Per  Option Term 
   Options   in Fiscal   Share   Expiration   

 

Name  Granted   Year ($/Share) Date  5%  10% 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

John G. Sperling    100,000      6.67%   $ 41.920      10/22/20    $ 2,636,326    $ 6,680,968  
Todd S. Nelson    200,000      13.34%     41.920      10/22/20      5,272,653      13,361,937  
Kenda B. Gonzales    50,000      3.33%     41.920      10/22/20      1,318,484      3,340,484  
Laura Palmer Noone    25,000      1.67%     41.920      10/22/20      659,082      1,670,242  
Robert A. Carroll    25,000      1.67%     41.920      10/22/20      659,082      1,670,242  
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Option Grants to Purchase University of Phoenix Online Common Stock 

In the Last Fiscal Year 

                                              
    Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2003 Potential Realizable 
    

 

  Value at Assumed 

        Percent of Annual Rates of 
    Number of   Total Options Stock Price 
    Securities   Granted To Exercise Appreciation for 
    Underlying   Employees Price Per Option Term 
    Options   in Fiscal   Share  Expiration   

 

Name   Granted   Year ($/Share) Date 5%   10% 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

John G. Sperling     100,000      20.25%   $ 30.600     10/24/2012   $ 1,924,418    $4,876  
Todd S. Nelson     200,000      40.51%     30.600     10/24/2012     3,848,835      9,753  
Kenda B. Gonzales     —      0.00%                              
Laura Palmer Noone     —      0.00%                              
Robert A. Carroll     —      0.00%                              

 
51. In a section entitled, “Board Compensation Committee Report on Executive 

Compensation, “ the 2003 10-K substantially repeated assurances to investors set forth above 

in paragraph 43 that Apollo’s Compensation Committee “assesses the effectiveness” of the 

compensation program and ties options grants to company and individual performance. 

52. The statements set forth above in paragraphs 49-51 were materially false and 

misleading in that they omitted to disclose that the process by which the options were granted 

was not tied to performance, was improperly documented and that the options granted were 

wrongfully backdated in order to artificially inflate the value of the options to the benefit the 

option recipients. 

53. In Apollo’s 2004 10-K, the Company set forth its stock options plan: 

Apollo Group, Inc. Stock-Based Compensation Plans. Through 2003, the 
Director Stock Plan provided for an annual grant to the Company’s non-
employee directors of options to purchase shares of the Company’s Apollo 
Education Group Class A common stock on September 1 of each year. The 
Company currently has two stock-based compensation plans in which non-
employee directors can be issued options: the Apollo Group, Inc., Long-
Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and the Apollo Group, Inc., Amended and 
Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (“2000 Incentive Plan”). Under both the 
LTIP and the 2000 Incentive Plan, the Company may grant options, 
incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other stock-based 
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awards in the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common stock to 
certain officers, key employees, or directors of the Company. 

 
54. The 2004 10-K further set forth the options granted by Apollo to John Sperling and 

the four other highest compensated officers of Apollo:  

 
Option Grants to Purchase Apollo Education Group Class A Common Stock in the Last Fiscal Year 

                                                  
    Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2004 Potential Realizable 
    

 

  Value at Assumed 

        Percent of Annual Rates of 
    Number of   Total Options Stock Price 
    Securities   Granted to Exercise Appreciation for 
    Underlying   Employees Price Per Option Term 
    Options   in Fiscal   Share   Expiration   

 

Name   Granted   Year ($/Share) Date 5%   10% 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

John G. Sperling     100,000      3.38%   $ 60.900      10/20/2013    $ 3,829,968    $ 9,705,892  
      20,250      0.68%     71.230      8/6/2014      907,122      2,298,826  
Todd S. Nelson     300,000      10.13%     60.900      10/20/2013      11,489,905      29,117,675  
      400,000      13.51%     71.230      8/6/2014      17,918,466      45,408,910  
Kenda B. Gonzales     50,000      1.69%     60.900      10/20/2013      1,914,984      4,852,946  
      50,000      1.69%     71.230      8/6/2014      2,239,808      5,676,114  
Laura Palmer Noone     25,000      0.84%     60.900      10/20/2013      957,492      2,426,473  
      20,000      0.68%     71.230      8/6/2014      895,923      2,270,446  
Robert A. Carroll     20,000      0.68%     60.900      10/20/2013      765,994      1,941,178  
      15,000      0.51%     71.230      8/6/2014      671,942      1,702,834  
 

Option Grants to Purchase University of Phoenix Online Common Stock in the Last Fiscal Year 

                                                  
    Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2004 Potential Realizable 
    

 

  Value at Assumed 

        Percent of Annual Rates of 
    Number of   Total Options Stock Price 
    Securities   Granted to Exercise Appreciation for 
    Underlying   Employees Price Per Option Term 
    Options   in Fiscal   Share   Expiration   

 

Name   Granted   Year ($/Share) Date 5%   10% 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

John G. Sperling     —      0.00%   $ —      —    $ —    $ —  
Todd S. Nelson     100,000      20.61%     64.800      10/20/2013      4,075,237      10,327,451  
Kenda B. Gonzales     —      0.00%     —      —      —      —  
Laura Palmer Noone     —      0.00%     —      —      —      —  
Robert A. Carroll     —      0.00%     —      —      —      —  

 
55. In a section entitled, “Board Compensation Committee Report on Executive 

Compensation, “ the 2004 10-K substantially repeated assurances to investors set forth above 

in paragraph 43 that Apollo’s Compensation Committee “assesses the effectiveness” of the 

compensation program and ties options grants to company and individual performance. 
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56. The statements set forth above in paragraphs 53-55 were materially false and 

misleading in that they omitted to disclose that the process by which the options were granted 

was deficient and improperly documented and that the options granted were wrongfully 

backdated in order to artificially inflate the value of the options to the benefit the option 

recipients. 

57. In Apollo’s 2005 10-K, the Company set forth its stock options plan:  

Apollo Group, Inc. Stock-Based Compensation Plans. Through 2003, the 
Director Stock Plan provided for an annual grant to the Company’s non-
employee directors of options to purchase shares of the Company’s Apollo 
Education Group Class A common stock on September 1 of each year. The 
Company currently has two stock-based compensation plans in which non-
employee directors can be issued options: the Apollo Group, Inc. Long-Term 
Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and the Apollo Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 
2000 Stock Incentive Plan (“2000 Incentive Plan”). Under both the LTIP and 
the 2000 Incentive Plan, the Company may grant non-qualified stock 
options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other stock-
based awards in the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common 
stock to certain officers, key employees, or directors of the Company. 

 
58. In a section entitled, “Board Compensation Committee Report on Executive 

Compensation, “ the 2005 10-K substantially repeated assurances to investors set forth above 

in paragraph 43 that Apollo’s Compensation Committee “assesses the effectiveness” of the 

compensation program and ties options grants to company and individual performance. 

59. The Company did not grant options to John Sperling or the other highly 

compensated executives who received options in the past.  However, the statements set forth 

above in paragraphs 57-58 were materially false and misleading in that they omitted to 

disclose that the process by which the options were granted was deficient and improperly 

documented and that the options granted were wrongfully backdated in order to artificially 

inflate the value of the options to the benefit the option recipients. 
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The Truth Begins to Emerge; Defendants’ Continued Non-Disclosures 

60. In the midst of a nation-wide scandal involving the widespread practice of 

backdating options granted to corporate officers and directors, a June 8, 2006 analyst report 

by Lehman Brothers (“Lehman”), entitled “Did Apollo Backdate Options?” questioned 

whether Apollo may have backdated four stock option grants during fiscal 2000-2004. 

61. In response to the Lehman report, Apollo on June 9, 2006, announced that it 

had reviewed its stock option practices and initially concluded that the grants in question 

included a large number of employees and not just senior executives, but that it had complied 

with all applicable laws and further, the Company flatly denied that it had backdated options: 

PHOENIX--(BUSINESS WIRE)--June 9, 2006--Apollo Group, Inc. 
(Nasdaq:APOL) comments on a recent report that was issued by Lehman 
Brothers, which questioned whether Apollo Group might have backdated 
four stock option grants during fiscal 2000-2004. 
 
In response to the report, and as part of its normal Corporate Governance 
practices, the Company performed a review of its stock option practices, 
including reviewing documents and interviewing employees. 
 
Based upon this review, the Company's initial conclusions are as follows: 
 
The grants included a large number of employees and not just senior 
executives.  
 
Management believes that it has complied with all applicable laws, including 
the accelerated Form 4 filing requirements mandated by the Sarbanes-Oxley 
legislation, in granting options to officers and it has not backdated options.  
 
Apollo Group's Board of Directors plans to hire an outside firm to review 
and confirm these conclusions. 

 
62. The statements set forth above in paragraph 61 were materially false and 

misleading in that they omitted to disclose that the process by which the options were granted 

were not tied to performance, was improperly documented and that the options granted were 
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wrongfully backdated in order to artificially inflate the value of the options to the benefit the 

option recipients. 

63. On June 19, 2006, Apollo announced that it had received that day a subpoena 

from the United States Department of Justice relating to stock option grants.  The Company 

stated that it “intends to cooperate fully in this matter.”  

64. The July 19 press release further reiterated that “Apollo's board of directors has 

hired an outside firm to review and confirm the company's initial conclusions that the 

company acted appropriately regarding its stock option practices. This review is on-going.”  

65. On this news, the Company’s stock price dropped from $54.82 per share on 

June 19, 2006 to $51.91 per share on June 20, 2006. 

66. The statements set forth above in paragraph 64 were materially false and 

misleading in that they omitted to disclose that the process by which the options were granted 

was not tied to performance, was improperly documented and that the options granted were 

wrongfully backdated in order to artificially inflate the value of the options to the benefit the 

option recipients. 

Further Revelations 
 

67. On October 18, 2006, Apollo issued a press release wherein it set forth its 

financial results for its fiscal year ended August 31, 2006. 

68. In the October 18 press release, the Company disclosed for the first time that 

four months earlier, the Apollo appointed a special independent committee to oversee the 

investigation of its stock option practices: 

On June 23, 2006, the Company's Board of Directors appointed a 
special committee of two independent members of the Board of 
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Directors to oversee the previously announced review of the 
Company's practices related to stock option grants. 

 
69. The Company shockingly also disclosed for the first time that the outside firm 

investigating the options practices had retained accounting experts and that, contrary to its 

prior representations, “various deficiencies” in the granting and documenting of stock options 

may lead to restatement of the Company’s financial statements: 

The special committee has retained independent legal counsel who 
engaged outside accounting advisors to assist with the review. The 
review is ongoing, however, various deficiencies in the process of 
granting and documenting stock options have been identified to date. 
The accounting impact of these matters has not been quantified. There 
can be no assurances that the results of the investigation will not 
require a possible restatement of the Company's financial statements 
when the potential errors are quantified and assessed. The attached 
unaudited financial statements do not include the impact of any 
unrecorded non-cash equity-based compensation charges that may be 
required at the conclusion of the review.  

 

70. Following this announcement of previous undisclosed information, shares of 

Apollo common stock declined by $11.13 per share (or almost 23%) from $48.68 per share 

on October 17, 2006, to close at $37.55 per share on October 18, 2006, on extraordinarily 

heavy trading volume of 28,738,800 – over fifteen times the previous day’s volume.  

71. The markets for Apollo’s securities were open, well-developed and efficient at 

all relevant times.  As a result of these materially false and misleading statements and failures 

to disclose, Apollo’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. 

Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired Apollo securities 

relying upon the integrity of the market price of Apollo’s securities and market information 

relating to Apollo, and have been damaged thereby.  

72. During the Class Period, defendants materially misled the investing public, 

thereby inflating the prices of Apollo’s securities, by publicly issuing false and misleading 

statements and omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make defendants’ statements, 
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as set forth herein, not false and misleading.  Said statements and omissions were materially 

false and misleading in that they failed to disclose material adverse information and 

misrepresented the truth about the Company, its business and operations, as alleged herein.  

73. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions 

particularized in this Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial 

contributing cause of the damages sustained by plaintiff and other members of the Class.  As 

described herein, during the Class Period, defendants made or caused to be made a series of 

materially false or misleading statements about Apollo’s business, prospects and operations.  

These material misstatements and omissions had the cause and effect of creating in the 

market an unrealistically positive assessment of Apollo and its business, prospects and 

operations, thus causing the Company’s securities to be overvalued and artificially inflated at 

all relevant times. Defendants’ materially false and misleading statements during the Class 

Period resulted in plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s 

securities at artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained of herein.  

ADDITIONAL SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS 

As alleged herein, defendants acted with scienter in that defendants knew that the 

public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were 

materially false and misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be issued or 

disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or 

acquiesced in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary 

violations of the federal securities laws. As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, defendants, by 

virtue of their receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding Apollo, their control 

over, and/or receipt and/or modification of Apollo’s allegedly materially misleading 

misstatements and/or their associations with the Company which made them privy to 

confidential proprietary information concerning Apollo, participated in the fraudulent scheme 

alleged herein.  

LOSS CAUSATION/ECONOMIC LOSS 
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During the Class Period, as detailed herein, defendants engaged in a scheme to deceive 

the market and a course of conduct that artificially inflated the prices of Apollo’s securities 

and operated as a fraud or deceit on Class Period purchasers of Apollo’s securities by failing 

to disclose the truth about Defendants’ backdating of stock options granted to management.  

When the full impact of defendants’ prior misrepresentations and fraudulent conduct were 

disclosed and became apparent to the market, the prices of Apollo’s securities fell 

precipitously as the prior artificial inflation came out.  As a result of their purchases of 

Apollo’s securities during the Class Period, plaintiff and the other Class members suffered 

economic loss, i.e., damages under the federal securities laws.  

74. By failing to disclose the truth about Defendants’ backdating of stock options, 

Defendants presented a misleading picture of Apollo’s operations and financial performance.  

Thus, instead of disclosing during the Class Period the truth about Apollo’s operations and 

financial performance, Defendants caused Apollo to conceal the truth.  

75. Defendants’ false and misleading statements had the intended effect and caused 

Apollo’s common stock to trade at artificially inflated levels throughout the Class Period, 

reaching as high as $97.93 per share on July 8, 2004. 

76. As a direct result of defendants’ disclosures on October 18, 2006, Apollo’s 

common stock price fell precipitously.  These drops removed the inflation from the price of 

Apollo’s securities, causing real economic loss to investors who had purchased the 

Company’s securities during the Class Period. 

77. The approximate 23% decline in the price of Apollo’s common stock after these 

disclosures came to light was a direct result of the nature and extent of defendants’ fraud 

finally being revealed to investors and the market.  The timing and magnitude of Apollo’s 

common stock price declines negate any inference that the loss suffered by plaintiff and the 

other Class members was caused by changed market conditions, macroeconomic or industry 

factors or Company-specific facts unrelated to the defendants’ fraudulent conduct.  The 

economic loss, i.e., damages, suffered by plaintiff and the other Class members was a direct 

result of Defendants’ fraudulent scheme to artificially inflate the prices of Apollo’s securities 
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and the subsequent significant decline in the value of Apollo’s securities when Defendants’ 

prior misrepresentations and other fraudulent conduct were revealed. 

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE: 

FRAUD ON THE MARKET DOCTRINE 

78. At all relevant times, the market for Apollo’s securities was an efficient market 

for the following reasons, among others: 

(a) Apollo’s stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and 

actively traded on the NASDAQ, a highly efficient and automated market;  

(b) as a regulated issuer, Apollo filed periodic public reports with the SEC 

and the NASDAQ;  

(c) Apollo regularly communicated with public investors via established 

market communication mechanisms, including through regular disseminations of press 

releases on the national circuits of major newswire services and through other wide-ranging 

public disclosures, such as communications with the financial press and other similar 

reporting services; and  

(d) Apollo was followed by several securities analysts employed by major 

brokerage firms who wrote reports which were distributed to the sales force and certain 

customers of their respective brokerage firms.  Each of these reports was publicly available 

and entered the public marketplace.  

79. As a result of the foregoing, the markets for Apollo’s securities promptly 

digested current information regarding Apollo from all publicly available sources and 

reflected such information in the prices of the securities. Under these circumstances, all 

purchasers of Apollo’s securities during the Class Period suffered similar injury through their 

purchase of Apollo’s securities at artificially inflated prices and a presumption of reliance 

applies.  

NO SAFE HARBOR 

80. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain 

circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pleaded in this 
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complaint. Many of the specific statements pleaded herein were not identified as “forward-

looking statements” when made.  To the extent there were any forward-looking statements, 

there were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause 

actual results to differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking statements.  

Alternatively, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor does apply to any forward-looking 

statements pleaded herein, defendants are liable for those false forward-looking statements 

because at the time each of those forward-looking statements was made, the particular 

speaker knew that the particular forward-looking statement was false, and/or the forward-

looking statement was authorized and/or approved by an executive officer of Apollo who 

knew that those statements were false when made.  

COUNT I 

Violation Of Section 10(b) Of The Exchange Act And Rule 10b-5 

Promulgated Thereunder Against All Defendants 

81. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein.  

82. During the Class Period, defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of 

conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the investing 

public regarding Apollo’s business, operations, management and the intrinsic value of Apollo 

securities; and (ii) cause plaintiff and other members of the Class to purchase Apollo’s 

securities at artificially inflated prices. In furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and 

course of conduct, defendants, and each of them, took the actions set forth herein.  

83. Defendants: (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made 

untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the 

statements not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which 

operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to 

maintain artificially high market prices for Apollo’s securities in violation of Section 10(b) of 

the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. All defendants are sued either as primary participants in 

the wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below.  



 

-25- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

84. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, 

means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and 

participated in a continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about 

the business, operations and future prospects of Apollo as specified herein.  

85. These defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud, while in 

possession of material adverse non-public information and engaged in acts, practices, and a 

course of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of Apollo’s value and 

performance and continued substantial growth, which included the making of, or the 

participation in the making of, untrue statements of material facts and omitting to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made about Apollo and its business 

operations and future prospects in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, 

not misleading, as set forth more particularly herein, and engaged in transactions, practices 

and a course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of Apollo’s 

securities during the Class Period.  

86. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability, and controlling person 

liability, arises from the following facts: (i) the Individual Defendants were high-level 

executives and/or directors at the Company during the Class Period and members of the 

Company’s management team or had control thereof; (ii) each of these defendants, by virtue 

of his responsibilities and activities as a senior officer and/or director of the Company was 

privy to and participated in the creation, development and reporting of the Company’s 

internal budgets, plans, projections and/or reports; (iii) each of these defendants enjoyed 

significant personal contact and familiarity with the other defendants and was advised of and 

had access to other members of the Company’s management team, internal reports and other 

data and information about the Company’s finances, operations, and sales at all relevant 

times; and (iv) each of these defendants was aware of the Company’s dissemination of 

information to the investing public which they knew or recklessly disregarded was materially 

false and misleading.  
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87. The defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissions 

of material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they 

failed to ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them.  

Such defendants’ material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or 

recklessly and for the purpose and effect of concealing Apollo’s operating condition and 

future business prospects from the investing public and supporting the artificially inflated 

price of its securities. As demonstrated by defendants’ overstatements and misstatements of 

the Company’s business, operations and earnings throughout the Class Period, defendants, if 

they did not have actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissions alleged, were 

reckless in failing to obtain such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking those steps 

necessary to discover whether those statements were false or misleading.  

88. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and misleading 

information and failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market prices of 

Apollo’s securities were artificially inflated during the Class Period.  In ignorance of the fact 

that market prices of Apollo’s publicly-traded securities were artificially inflated, and relying 

directly or indirectly on the false and misleading statements made by defendants, or upon the 

integrity of the market in which the securities trade, and/or on the absence of material adverse 

information that was known to or recklessly disregarded by defendants but not disclosed in 

public statements by defendants during the Class Period, plaintiff and the other members of 

the Class acquired Apollo securities during the Class Period at artificially high prices and 

were damaged thereby.  

89. At the time of said misrepresentations and omissions, plaintiff and other 

members of the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true.  Had 

plaintiff and the other members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding 

Apollo’s financial results, which were not disclosed by defendants, plaintiff and other 

members of the Class would not have purchased or otherwise acquired their Apollo securities, 

or, if they had acquired such securities during the Class Period, they would not have done so 

at the artificially inflated prices which they paid.  
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90. By virtue of the foregoing, defendants have violated Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  

91. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, plaintiff and 

the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective 

purchases and sales of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.  

COUNT II 

Violation of Section 20(a) Of 

The Exchange Act Against the Individual Defendants 

92. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein.  

93. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Apollo within the 

meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein.  By virtue of their high-level 

positions, and their ownership and contractual rights, participation in and/or awareness of the 

Company’s operations and/or intimate knowledge of the false financial statements filed by 

the Company with the SEC and disseminated to the investing public, the Individual 

Defendants had the power to influence and control and did influence and control, directly or 

indirectly, the decision-making of the Company, including the content and dissemination of 

the various statements which plaintiff contends are false and misleading.  The Individual 

Defendants were provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the Company’s reports, 

press releases, public filings and other statements alleged by plaintiff to be misleading prior 

to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance 

of the statements or cause the statements to be corrected.  

94. In particular, each of these defendants had direct and supervisory involvement 

in the day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, is presumed to have had the 

power to control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations 

as alleged herein, and exercised the same.  

95. As set forth above, Apollo and the Individual Defendants each violated Section 

10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by their acts and omissions as alleged in this Complaint.  By virtue of 
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their positions as controlling persons, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to Section 

20(a) of the Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, 

plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases 

of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.  

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows:  

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating plaintiff as 

Lead Plaintiff and certifying plaintiff as a class representative under Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure and plaintiff’s counsel as Lead Counsel;  

B.  Awarding compensatory damages in favor of plaintiff and the other Class 

members against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of 

defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon;  

C.  Awarding plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and  

D.  Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.  

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED  

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.  

DATED this _____ day of November, 2006.   
 
 

DYER & BUTLER, LLP 

 
By:_/s/ Robert O Dyer  

Robert O. Dyer  
Attorneys for Plaintiff  


